NO. 70568-7-1

VII. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other Appellate Court decisions regarding whether Plaintiff Uhrich was exempt from a requirement to use fall protection gear because his scope of work did not expose him to the hazard of falling?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision that
 Uhrich's assumption of the risk does not bar his recovery conflicts
 with other Appellate decisions and presents an issue of substantial
 public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court?

VIII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This is a personal injury action arising out of Plaintiff Uhrich's fall from the flat roof of a residential remodel construction site on November 3, 2009. Mt. Si was the general contractor for the remodel project. CP 64. As part of the remodeling work, it was necessary to locate the path of the electrical wires just underneath the surface of the flat roof so that when the new roof surface was applied over the old surface the roofers would not nail into the electrical wires. CP 64, 71. The wires in question supplied power between various light switches and lights on the main floor level. CP 64. Mt. Si hired Lander Electric to locate and mark the location of the wire paths on the roof. CP 65. Mr. Uhrich was an employee of Lander Electric. Mr. Uhrich determined the location of the wire paths in the roof by using a circuit tracer. CP 119.

Before Mr. Uhrich arrived at the job site, Dave Arnold, the president of Mt. Si, had marked the locations of the switches and lights with paint on the roof. CP 65. Most of those locations were towards the center of the roof. CP 65. All of the switch and light locations were well away from the edge of the roof, with the closest location being 7 ½ ' from the edge of the roof. CP 65. Mr. Uhrich's

scope of work was limited to identifying the location of the wire paths between those previously marked locations for the switches and lights, and then marking the paths with paint. CP 65-66. Mr. Uhrich's scope of work did not include getting anywhere near the edge of the roof or working in any area where there was a potential fall hazard. CP 66-67. On the contrary, Mr. Uhrich's scope of work did not take him any closer to the edge of the roof than 7 ½ feet. CP 66-67. Mr. Uhrich had his own fall protection gear in his work truck, and Mt. Si also had fall protection gear on site for use where it was required. CP 167, 180. However, since Mr. Uhrich's scope of work did not expose him to a hazard of falling, he did not choose to wear fall protection gear and was not required to wear it.

Rather than performing his scope of work, Mr. Uhrich abandoned his scope of work, and walked over to the west edge of the roof, an area that was well outside his assigned work scope. Mr. Uhrich leaned over the edge of the roof and fell off the roof in one continuous motion. CP 81.

On June 17, 2013, the Honorable William L. Downing granted Mt. Si's summary judgment motion and denied Mr. Uhrich's motion for partial summary judgment. CP 278-80. On August 25, 2014, the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed its decision reversing

the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Mt. Si, and remanding for trial. On September 2, 2014, the Court of Appeals entered an Order amending its opinion. The Court of Appeals denied Mt. Si's motion for reconsideration on September 19, 2014.

IX. ARGUMENT

A. Considerations governing acceptance of review.

Mt. Si petitions for review by the Supreme Court based upon RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). The Supreme Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. In addition, the Supreme Court should accept review because the petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

B. Standard of Review.

When a motion for summary judgment is supported by evidentiary matter, the adverse party may not rest on mere allegations in the pleadings but must set forth specific admissible facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,* 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); *LePlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 531 P.2d 299 (1975). The non-moving party may not rely on speculation or argumentative

assertions that unresolved factual issues remain. *Marshall v. Bally's PacWest, Inc.*, 94 Wn.App. 372, 972 P.2d 475 (1999).

C. <u>The Court of Appeals decision regarding fall</u> protection conflicts with other Appellate Court decisions.

The Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with other Appellate Court opinions regarding whether Mr. Uhrich was exempt from a requirement to use fall protection because his scope of work did not expose him to the hazard of falling. In particular, the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with other Appellate Court opinions requiring Mr. Uhrich to set forth admissible evidence that his scope of work made it reasonably predictable that he would fall from the roof.

WAC 296-155-24510 required employers to insure that fall protection equipment was provided, installed, and implemented "when employees are exposed to a hazard of falling from a location 10 feet or more in height". WAC 296-155-012 defines "hazard" to mean, "that condition, potential or inherent, which is likely to cause injury, death, or occupational disease." In order to demonstrate exposure to a hazard which will trigger application of the WAC regulations, Mr. Uhrich must demonstrate a reasonable predictability that in the course of his duties he will be, is, or has

been in the zone of danger. Adkins v. Aluminum Company of America, 110 Wn.2d 128, 147, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988).

In Adkins, supra, plaintiff was on a roof caulking the flashing on the inside of a pre-cast concrete parapet around the roof. He placed several tubes of caulk under the weather cap of an exhaust vent in order to warm the caulk. One tube fell into the vent. Plaintiff Adkins reached down into the duct to retrieve the tube of caulk and injured his hand when it was caught in a moving fan. The trial court ruled that certain WISHA regulations concerning machine guarding did not apply because the fan did not present a hazard to plaintiff in his normal work area. The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's decision in that regard. The Court noted that in order to establish that he was exposed to a hazard, thereby triggering application of WISHA, plaintiff Adkins was required to demonstrate that it was reasonably predictable he would gain access to the fan in the course of his normal duties. The Court held plaintiff Adkins did not meet that burden:

We are unconvinced that it was reasonably predictable that Mr. Adkins would need access to the fan in the course of his normal duties as a roofer. Indeed, the fan became a hazard only when he consciously and deliberately removed the cap and entered the vent, an area arguably beyond a roofer's normal work area.

Adkins, supra at 148.

Adkins is directly on point, requiring judgment in favor of Mt. David Arnold testified he told Mr. Uhrich, "that his job was simply to trace the wire paths **between** the switch and light locations that were marked on the roof, and then to mark those paths with the paint I had supplied." CP 65 (emphasis added). Mr. Arnold testified that the closest light or switch location to the west side of the roof where Mr. Uhrich ultimately fell was 7' 6". CP 65. That point was the blue light location shown in the photograph attached as Exhibit A to Mr. Arnold's Declaration. CP 69. As seen in the photograph, the pink switch location was even farther away from the edge of the roof. There was no evidence whatsoever in the record that the wire paths between any of the switch or light locations were any closer to the edge of the roof than 7' 6". On the contrary, Mr. Arnold's testimony demonstrated that none of the wire locations were any closer to the roof edge than 7'6". Mr. Arnold testified that he finished marking the wire paths himself after Mr. Uhrich's accident. CP 66. Mr. Arnold, who had personal knowledge of where the wire paths were ultimately marked on the roof, further testified that Mr. Uhrich's scope of work did not include getting anywhere near the edge of the roof or working in any area where there was a potential fall hazard. CP 66. He further testified there was no reason whatsoever for Mr. Uhrich to get any closer to the west edge of the roof than the 7' 6" mark where the light switch was located in Exhibits A-C. CP 66-67. All of that evidence was unrebutted. In fact, Mr. Uhrich's own testimony confirmed that his scope of work did not expose him to the hazard of falling. Mr. Uhrich testified:

- Q At any time while you were up on the roof doing the work, did you ever believe that you had to get so close to the edge of the roof to do your work that there might have been a potential of your falling off the roof?
- A Not that I can remember. . . .
- Q So you can't actually testify that you know you had to go over to the edge of the roof to trace a particular wire; is that correct?
- A No, I cannot say --
- Q Is that correct?
- A That's correct....

Dep. J. Nicholas Uhrich, 76:23-77:2; 64:11-16; CP 141-42, 132.

As in *Adkins, supra,* falling from the roof became a hazard only when Mr. Uhrich consciously and deliberately left the safety of his work area and went over to the edge of the roof which was clearly outside the scope of his normal work area. Mr. Uhrich's accident did not occur because his scope of work exposed him to a

risk of falling. The accident did not occur because Mr. Uhrich was tracing a wire path and got distracted and did not realize where the edge of the roof was. Mr. Uhrich's accident occurred because he left his work area, walked over to the very edge of the roof where he was not supposed to be, leaned over, and tried to look into a window. CP 81. That was not in any imaginable way part of Mr. Uhrich's scope of work according to the undisputed facts in the record. As in *Adkins*, it was not reasonably predictable that Mr. Uhrich would fall from the roof when his normal duties in the scope of his work would require him to be, at a minimum, 7' 6" from the edge of the roof.¹

Mr. Uhrich had the burden of coming forward with some admissible evidence that the location of the wire paths was so close to the edge of the roof that in tracing them it was likely and

Unlike Adkins, here, Vern McCollaum, a Mid Mountain employee present the day of the citation, had access to the hazard, and it was within his normal duties to have access to this area.

The Court of Appeals' opinion at page 10 cited *Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc., v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,* 136 Wn.App. 1, 7, 146 P.3d 1212 (2006) "(holding WISHA regulations were violated because the employee was working within close proximity to the hazard)." *Mid Mountain Contractors, supra,* is clearly distinguishable. In *Mid Mountain Contractors, supra,* the Court held:

Mid Mountain Contractors, supra 146 P.3d at 1214 (emphasis added). Unlike Mid Mountain, in the case at bar Mr. Uhrich had no business going over to the edge of the roof and it was not within his normal duties to be near the edge of the roof.

reasonably predictable he would fall from the roof and be injured. Adkins, supra at 148; WAC 296-155-012 ("Hazard"). Mr. Uhrich produced no such evidence. He produced no evidence whatsoever as to the location of the wire paths. Much less did Mr. Uhrich produce any evidence that the location of the wire paths was so close to the edge of the roof that in performing his scope of work and locating them with his circuit tracer he would be at risk of falling. Even if one assumes that the wires did not follow a straight path between the light and switch locations—and there was no evidence to that in the record—there was no evidence whatsoever that any of the wires were closer to the edge of the roof than 7' 6". To conclude, as the Court of Appeals' opinion does, that Mr. Uhrich might have had to go close to the edge of the roof in order to trace the wires is sheer speculation that is unsupported by any facts, and is contrary to the admissible facts in the case. The court's speculation is contrary to well established Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' decisions requiring the non-moving party on summary judgment to set forth specific admissible facts rebutting the moving party's contentions and disclosing the existence of issues of material fact. See, e.g., Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., supra; Marshall v. Bally's PacWest, Inc., supra. Mr. Uhrich did not meet his burden of setting forth specific facts to show his normal duties as part of his scope of work exposed him to the hazard of falling and, consequently, Mt. Si was entitled to judgment.

Adkins, supra at 148.²

D. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Washington Appellate Court decisions and out of state decisions regarding assumption of risk.

In footnote 11 at page 14, the Court of Appeals rejected Mt. Si's argument that assumption of risk barred Plaintiff's claim. The Court apparently concluded that based upon a statement in *Stute v. PBMC, Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 464, 788 P.2d 545 (1990), regarding a general contractor having a non-delegable duty to comply with WISHA regulations, that as a matter of law the Doctrine of Primary Implied Assumption of Risk did not apply. The Court's conclusion misapplies both the concept of nondelegable duty and the Doctrine of Assumption of Risk. The existence of a nondelegable duty does not prevent assumption of risk from barring plaintiff's claims.

In concluding that there were material issues of fact as to whether the scope of work exposed Uhrich to the hazard of falling, the Court of Appeals noted that Mr. Arnold conceded in his deposition that he did not say anything to Uhrich about not being near the edge of the house. See Court of Appeals' Opinion at 10-11. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is misplaced. In *Adkins, supra*, no one said anything to Plaintiff about not sticking his hand down in the exhaust vent near the fan either. It does not follow that plaintiff Adkins' or Plaintiff Uhrich's deviation from their normal work area was thereby rendered reasonably predictable.

Assumption of risk is divided into four classifications: (1) express, (2) implied primary, (3) implied reasonable; and (4) implied unreasonable. Scott v. Pacific West Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 497, 834 P.2d 6 (1992). At issue in this matter is implied primary assumption of the risk which "arises where a plaintiff has impliedly consented (often in advance of any negligence by defendant) to relieve defendant of a duty to plaintiff regarding specific known and appreciated risks." Id. at 498 (citing Kirk v. WSU, 109 Wn.2d 448, 453, 746 P.2d 285 (1987)). Where plaintiff knowingly and voluntarily chose to encounter a risk, he has relieved defendant of any duty towards him with respect to that risk. See, e.g., Jessee v. City Council Dayton, _____ Wn.App. ____, 293 P.3d 1290 (2013); Eire v. White, 92 Wn.App. 297, 966 P.2d 342 (1998). "If the defendant does not have the duty, there can be no breach and hence no negligence." Scott, 119 Wn.2d at 497 (citing W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton & D. Owen, Prosser and Keeton on Torts § 68, at 496-97 (5th ed. 1984)); see also Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc., 124 Wn.2d 121, 875 P.2d 621 (1994) ("Assumption of the risk in this form is really a principle of no duty, or no negligence, and so denies the existence of the underlying action.").

The Doctrine of Assumption of Risk does not depend upon the particular duty that Plaintiff relieves or the risk that he assumes. Plaintiff is free to relieve Defendant of any duty he chooses to, as long as he knowingly and voluntarily does so. Consequently, the Court of Appeals decision relying upon *Stute's* nondelegable duty language is misplaced. *Stute* did not involve the issue of implied assumption of the risk. Rather, the court held:

Thus, to further the purposes of WISHA to assure safe and healthful working conditions for every person working in Washington, RCW 49.18.010, we hold the general contractor should bear the primary responsibility for compliance with safety regulations because the general contractor's innate supervisory authority constitutes sufficient control over the work place.

Stute v. P.B.M.C., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 454, 464, 788 P.2d 545 (1990). While the Stute court defined the duty of the general contractor as nondelegable, it did not hold that a plaintiff may not relieve a defendant of a nondelegable duty pursuant to the Doctrine of Assumption of Risk. Indeed, assumption of risk was not even at issue in Stute.

Furthermore, the concept of a nondelegable duty has nothing to do with the principles of assumption of risk. The nondelegable duty simply means that a general contractor cannot

eliminate its duty towards plaintiff by entering into a contract with a third party other than plaintiff. The term nondelegable duty does not mean a general contractor cannot delegate compliance with construction safety regulations to a third party subcontractor by contract. In fact, the *Stute* court recognized that type of delegation as perfectly proper:

It is the general contractor's responsibility to furnish safety equipment or to contractually require subcontractors to furnish adequate safety equipment relevant to their responsibilities.

Stute, supra at 464 (emphasis added). Washington courts since Stute have made this distinction clear, viz., a general contractor may delegate responsibility for compliance with WISHA's safety regulations to a subcontractor by contract, including provisions for defense and indemnity, based upon the contractual arrangement with the subcontractor. However, the general contractor cannot eliminate its own duty towards plaintiff by a contract it enters into with a subcontractor and not with plaintiff. In short, absent a contract or agreement with plaintiff directly, a general contractor cannot eliminate its duty towards plaintiff by simply entering into a contract with a third party. That is all that the nondelegable duty language means, and Washington courts since Stute have

recognized that. See, e.g., Degroot v. Berkley Construction, Inc., 83 Wn. App. 125, 129, 920 P.2d 619 (1996) ("The subcontract safety provision at issue here contains boilerplate language that appears designed to meet the duty of care outlined in Stute."); Millican v. N.A. Degerstrom, Inc., ___ Wn. App. ___, 313 P.3d 1215 (2013) (citing Gilbert H. Moen Co. v. Island Steel Erectors, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 745, 912 P.2d 472 (1996) "Sharp-Line's agreement to assume sole responsibility and indemnify Degerstrom has no more and no less significance here. If it complies with statute, then as between Sharp-Line and Degerstrom the agreement is controlling. As between Mr. Lafayette [decedent] and Degerstrom, for any WISHA violation established by the evidence, it is irrelevant." Millican, supra, 313 P.3d at 1222. In other words, the general contractor cannot eliminate the rights of an employee of the subcontractor by entering into an agreement with the subcontractor rather than with the employee.

In the case at bar however, the Doctrine of Assumption of Risk provided that the agreement Mt. Si entered into was not with Mr. Uhrich's employer, but with Mr. Uhrich himself. Implied primary assumption of the risk means that Mr. Uhrich himself knowingly and voluntarily assumed the risk of falling from the roof, and by doing so

eliminated the duty of Mt. Si to insure that he used fall protection gear. Just as the agreement between the general contractor and subcontractor is controlling as between them, so too assumption of the risk between Mr. Uhrich and Mt. Si controlled their relationship and relieved Mt. Si of any duty towards Mr. Uhrich with respect to fall protection equipment.

There is no authority in Washington for the proposition that implied primary assumption of risk does not apply with respect to duties in the construction context. Neither is there any authority in Washington that supports the Court of Appeals decision in this case that implied primary assumption of risk does not apply in the context of a nondelegable duty. In this regard, the Court of Appeals decision has misapplied both the concept of nondelegable duty and the Doctrine of the Assumption of Risk. Consistent with the proper application of both the nondelegable duty concept and the Doctrine of the Assumption of Risk, courts in other jurisdictions have applied assumption of risk in the context of a nondelegable duty. See, e.g., Larabee v. Triangle Steel, Inc., 451 N.Y.S.2d 258, 86 A.D.2d 289 (1982) (liability of general contractor is nondelegable but not absolute and subject to affirmative defenses of comparative negligence and assumption of risk); Brady v. Ralph M. Parsons Co., 327 Md. 275, 292, 609 A.2d 297 (1992) (Assumption of risk defense available in action claiming breach of a contractor's nondelegable duty to enforce OSHA regulations).

Applying this law to the facts in the case at bar, it is clear Mr. Uhrich knowingly and voluntarily assumed the risk of falling from the roof and is barred from suing Mt. Si. It is undisputed Plaintiff knew exactly where the edge of the roof was, because he walked right up to it, got down into a three-point stance, and leaned over the edge of the roof. CP 81. It is undisputed Mr. Uhrich knowingly and voluntarily encountered the risk of falling from the roof. He testified:

- Q You understood before your accident that if you got too close to the edge of the roof there's a potential of falling, correct?
- A What? I'm sorry.

 (The pending question was read by the reporter.)
- A Yes.
- Q You did not need anybody to warn you about that, did you?
- A No.

Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, 90:3-12, CP 152. It is also undisputed Mr. Uhrich knew he had a reasonable opportunity to act differently that would have avoided the danger. Mr. Uhrich had fall protection

gear available in his own work van on-site. CP 180. He knew that fall protection gear was available and that it was one means of protecting himself against the risk of falling if he got too close to the roof. Mr. Uhrich testified:

- Q What do you believe that Lander had by way of fall protection gear before our accident?
- A I believe they had a harness, at least one...
- Q So you understood before our accident that where there was a situation where there was a potential for falling at a height over ten feet, a harness and a line would be one means of protecting you against that risk, correct?
- A Yes...

Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, 32:13-15; 37:14-18; CP 32, 37. Mr. Uhrich also could have safely avoided this risk by simply using the ladder, as he had previously, to go down to the main floor and check the light and switch locations rather than leaning over the edge of the roof to try to look in a window. Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, 56:6-8; CP 124. Mr. Uhrich also confirmed he understood it would not be safe to lean over the edge of the roof without being tied off. Mr. Uhrich testified:

- Q Wouldn't you agree it would not be a safe work practice to try to lean over the edge of the roof to look down into the house to find a light or a switch location? Again, assuming you're not tied off.
- A Was that a "would you agree" question?
- Q Go ahead and read it back.
 (The pending question was read by the reporter.)
- A Yeah, I guess I would agree with that.
- Q And it would not be consistent with ordinary care to lean over the edge of the roof without being tied off in an effort to try to locate a switch or a light location; isn't that true?
- A I would say so, yes.

Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, 95:11-24; CP 156.

The risk was obvious and Mr. Uhrich knew that before his accident. Mr. Uhrich knew that if got too close to the edge of the roof there was a potential of his falling. He knew it was unsafe to lean over the edge of the roof without being tied off with fall protection gear. He knew fall restraint gear was available to him if he wanted it. Mr. Uhrich knew he could safely use the ladder, as he had previously, to get off the roof and check light and switch locations on the main floor if he needed to. Despite all that knowledge, he voluntarily assumed the risk of leaning over the

edge of the roof without fall pr	rotection gear on. Mr. Uhrich	า'ร								
assumption of the risk bars his	claims. Jesse v. City Coun	Ci								
Dayton, Wn.App	_, 293 P.3d 1290 (2013); <i>Erie</i>	V.								
White, 92 Wn.App. 297, 966 P.2d 342 (1998).										

X. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Mt. Si respectfully requests the Court grant its petition for review, reverse the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter, and reinstate the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Mt. Si.

Respectfully submitted this _______ day of October, 2014.

BOLTON & CAREY

Keith A. Bolton, WSBA 12588 Attorneys for Respondent/Defendant

Mt. Si Construction, Inc.