RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 17, 2014, 1:40 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Supreme Court No. 90960-1

Court of Appeals No. 70568-7-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NICHOLAS and KELLY UHRICH, and THE MARTIAL COMMUNITY COMPRISED THEREOF,

Respondents/Appellants/Plaintiffs,

۷.

MT. SI CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Petitioner/Respondent/Defendant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

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

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) governs petitions for review to this Court and

sets forth the following considerations for review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

As shown below, none of these standards are met in the Petition.

A. THE CONTROLLING CASE IS STUTE V. P.B.M.C., INC.

The controlling case is Stute v. P.B.M.C., Inc., 114 Wn.2d

454, 464, 788 P.2d 545 (1990). In Stute, the general contractor

P.B.M.C. contracted with to build a condominium complex.

P.B.M.C. subcontracted with S & S Gutters to install gutters and downspouts. On March 13, 1984, Mr. Stute, an employee of S & S Gutters, was installing gutters and slipped off the roof, falling three stories. There was no scaffolding or other safety equipment to break the fall. Mr. Stute was injured by the fall. P.B.M.C. knew that employees of the subcontractor were working on the roof without safety devices. 114 Wn.2d at 456.

Stute sued P.B.M.C. alleging it owed him a duty to provide necessary safety devices at a job site. P.B.M.C. moved for summary judgment, which was granted. The trial court ruled that the general contractor did not owe Stute, an employee of a subcontractor, a duty to provide safety equipment because the

general contractor had not voluntarily assumed the duty in its contract with the owner or subcontractor. The trial court also ruled P.B.M.C. had not retained authority to control the safety practices of the subcontractor. 114 Wn.2d at 456. This Court disagreed and reversed, holding that the statutory directive to employers to comply with safety regulations applies to employees of a subcontractor as well as to the general contractor's direct employees. 114 Wn.2d at 457.

This Court held that RCW 49.17.060 creates a two-fold duty. Subsection (1) imposes a general duty on employers to protect only the employer's own employees from recognized hazards not covered by specific safety regulations. Subsection (2) imposes a specific duty to comply with WISHA regulations. 114 Wn.2d at 457. Thus, the employer's liability depends upon which section is being invoked. The employer's duty only extends to employees of independent contractors when a party asserts that the employer did not follow particular WISHA regulations. In such a case, all employees working on the premises are members of the protected class. *Id.* "Thus, the specific duty clause of RCW 49.17.060(2) requiring employers to comply with applicable WISHA regulations, applies to employees of subcontractors." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals applied this rule as it stated at page 8

of the Decision:

In *Stute v. P.B.M.C., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P.2d 545 (1990), the Washington Supreme Court held that a general contractor has a nondelegable duty to ensure compliance with safety regulations for the protection of all employees at the work site, including the employees of a subcontractor. *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 464. The court concluded that the general contractor assumes primary responsibility because its "innate supervisory authority constitutes sufficient control over the workplace." *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 464. The court explained that the policy rationale for placing this responsibility upon a general contractor is because the "general contractor's supervisory authority places the general in the best position to ensure compliance with safety regulations." *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 463.

This Court has regularly imposed the Stute Rule. See

Kamla v. Space Needle Corp., 147 Wn.2d 114, 122, 52 P.3d 472

(2002). The Court of Appeals decisions have repeatedly applied the

Stute Rule. See Kinney v. Space Needle Corporation, 121 Wn.

App. 242, 248, 85 P.2d 918 (2004); Doss v. ITT Rayonier, Inc., 60

Wn. App. 125, 803 P.2d 4 (1991); Weinert v. Bronco Nat'l Co., 58

Wn. App. 692, 795 P.2d 1167 (1990); Husfloen v. MTA Constr. Inc.,

58 Wn. App. 686, 794 P.2d 859 (1990).

The Court of Appeals also went on to state:

There must be a "<u>reasonable predictability</u> that, in the course of [the workers'] duties, employees will be, are, or have been in the zone of danger." *Adkins*, 110 Wn.2d at 147; *see also Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 136 Wn. App. 1, 7, 146 P.3d 1212 (2006) (holding WISHA regulations were violated because the employee was working within close proximity to the hazard).

Decision, p. 10.

Mt. Si relies heavily on *Adkins v. Aluminum Company of America*, 110 Wn:2d 128, 147, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988) in its pleas to this court. In *Adkins*, an injured worker sued his employer for injuries sustained as a result of him placing his hand near a running fan in an attempt to retrieve some caulk. This Court concluded that it was not reasonably predictable that the worker "would need access to the fan in the course of his normal duties as a roofer." *Id.* at 148.

In this case, the facts show that Mr. Uhrich was not warned against the edge of the roof nor was he instructed to stay away from it. CP 100-101. No safety plan (including a fall protection plan) was on site that day, Mr. Uhrich was not provided a copy of fall protection plan and it was not discussed with him. CP 103. Further, Mr. Uhrich was not instructed to use fall protection equipment, he was not required to use it nor was he using it. CP 63; 100. Further, no one else was using fall protection that day. CP 106. While performing his work, Mr. Uhrich fell from the roof to the ground, a distance of 17'6". CP 101.

Mt. Si argues that Mr. Uhrich did not need to access the full roof to perform his duties and it was not reasonably predictable the he would do so as a matter of law thus entitling it to summary judgment. *Petition* at 7-9. Such an argument involves clear questions of material fact to be resolved by the jury as stated by the Court of Appeals. Slip Op. pp. 10-11. Such a conclusion does not meet the standards of RAP 13.4.

B. ASSUMPTION OF THE RISK DOES NOT APPLY TO CONSTRUCTION SITES IN WASHINGTON STATE AS A MATTER OF LAW

At pages 11-20 of the Petition, Mt. Si argues that implied primary assumption of the risk should be applied to construction sites in Washington State. In support of this argument, Mt. Si cites only to out of state cases: *Larabee v. Triangle Steel, Inc.*, 451 N.Y.S.2d 258, 86 A.D.2d 289 (1982), and *Brady v. Ralph M. Parsons*, Co., 327 Md. 275, 292, 609 A.2d 297 (1992).

Long ago this Court rejected the application of assumption of the risk in the construction setting. In *Lyons v. Redding Const. Co.,* 83 Wn.2d 86, 515 P.2d 821 (1973), Mr. Lyons, an employee of an electrical subcontractor, sued Redding Construction Company, the general contractor, for damages as a result of injuries he sustained while standing on a foundation footing. Mr. Lyons was either hit by a tractor performing road work or the tractor hit the footing on which

Mr. Lyons was standing. Id., 83 Wn.2d at 87. In ruling on an appeal

by Mr. Lyons, this Court first said:

In recent years we have recognized the anomaly of perpetuating a doctrine whose historical purpose is questionable and whose contemporary application is dubious. In *Siragusa v. Swedish Hosp.*, 60 Wn.2d 310, 319, 373 P.2d 767 (1962), *noted* 16 Vand. L. Rev. 465 (1963); 40 U. Det. L.J. 273 (1962), after an extensive review of the doctrine, we addressed assumption of risk in the context of the master servant relationship:

> The time has now come . . . to state unqualifiedly that an employer has a duty to his employees to exercise reasonable care to furnish them with a reasonably safe place to work. We now hold that if an employer negligently fails in this duty, he may not assert, as a defense to an action based upon such a breach of duty, that the injured employee is barred from recovery merely because he was aware or should have known of the dangerous condition negligently created or maintained. However, if the employee's voluntary exposure to the risk is unreasonable under the circumstances, he will be barred from recovery because of his contributory negligence.

See Browning v. Ward, 70 Wn.2d 45, 422 P.2d 12 (1966). The following year the defense was abolished in a relationship other than that of master-servant in Engen v. Arnold, 61 Wn.2d 641, 379 P.2d 990 (1963). The doctrine was further restricted in Feigenbaum v. Brink, 66 Wn.2d 125, 401 P.2d 642 (1965), wherein the reasoning of the Siragusa and Engen cases was found to control in a situation in which a landlord had not maintained rental premises in a reasonably safe condition. Thus, assumption of the risk has been extremely limited by prior Washington decisions in which the defense of contributory negligence was available. Cf. Smith, The Last Days of Assumption of the Risk, 5 Gonzaga L. Rev. 190 (1970). *Id.* at 93. This Court went on to say:

In Greenleaf v. Puget Sound Bridge & Dredging Co., 58 Wn.2d 647, 364 P.2d 796 (1961), we held that a general contractor owes an equal duty of care to his employees and the employees of a subcontractor. We are convinced that *Siragusa* and the *Engen* case are controlling in this appeal. Appellant Lyons stood in the shoes of an employee of respondent, Redding Construction Co. As we have noted, *Siragusa* eliminated the defense of assumption of the risk in the master-servant context while *Engen* abolished the doctrine in other relationships. Thus the defense of assumption of the risk is not available, and furthermore we are convinced the maxim, volenti non fit injuria, is inappropriate and inapplicable.

Id. at 94.

Mt. Si ignores this line of cases and instead relies on out of state cases. There is no legal basis to overturn *Lyons* or any other case which follows it (an argument impliedly made here by Mt. Si). *Lyons* was decided the same year that the Legislature adopted the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act of 1973. RCW 49.17.900. Laws of 1973, Chapter 80, Section 1 provides:

The legislature finds that personal injuries and illnesses arising out of conditions of employment impose a substantial burden upon employers and employees in terms of lost production, wage loss, medical expenses, and payment of benefits under the industrial insurance act. Therefore, in the public interest for the welfare of the people of the state of Washington and in order to assure, insofar as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington, the legislature in the exercise of its police power, and in keeping with the mandates of Article II, section

35 of the state Constitution, declares its purpose by the provisions of this chapter to create, maintain, continue, and enhance the industrial safety and health program of the state, which program shall equal or exceed the standards prescribed by the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-596, 84 Stat. 1590).

RCW 49.17.030 provides: "This chapter shall apply with respect to employment performed in any work place within the state."

There is a clear policy in Washington that employers have higher duties than employees in a workplace setting. The notion that construction sites are littered with dangers is obvious. The idea that a contractor need not warn and take action to protect against them is directly contrary to the statutory and regulatory scheme established by Chapter 49.17 RCW and WAC 296-155. Any effort to weaken these policies should be rejected.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, the petition should be denied. DATED this 17th day of November, 2014.